
Date: 2016/08/30 

To: Chair and Members of Governance Committee 

From: Gary Kent, Commissioner of Corporate Services and 
Chief Financial Officer 

Originator’s files: 

Meeting date: 
2016/09/19 

Subject 
Municipal Election Campaign Contribution Rebate Program for the 2018 Election. 

Recommendation 
1. That the report from the Commissioner of Corporate Services and Chief Financial Officer

dated August 30, 2016 be received for information.

2. That direction be provided with respect to the implementation of a Rebate Program for the

2018 Municipal Election.

Report Highlights 
 Providing a rebate program requires additional tax funded financial resources for rebate 

payments, staffing and administration.

 A rebate program partially subsidizes election campaign financing by the municipality

rather than wholly from donors.

 The cost of a rebate program varies depending on the value of the rebate provided,

number of candidates that participate and the amount of eligible contributions received.

Background 
Municipal Election campaign contributions are not eligible for tax credits under the provisions of 

the Municipal Elections Act, 1996 (“MEA”) or the Income Tax Act. The MEA states: 

88.11 (1) A municipality may, by by-law, provide for the payment of rebates to 

individuals who made contributions to candidates for office on the municipal 

council. 2016, c. 15, s. 51. 

A rebate program enables a municipality to reimburse contributions made by individuals to the 

campaign of a candidate running for Mayor or Councillor. The concept for providing a rebate 

program is to encourage greater participation in municipal politics by reducing the financial 

burden placed on candidates and campaign donors.  

10.1
Appendix 4



Governance Committee 2016/08/30 2 

A rebate program requires candidates to issue receipts to donors who would then apply for a 

rebate from the municipality. Staff would prepare rebates for donors after a candidate files his or 

her financial statements in compliance with the MEA. Registration in the rebate program by 

individual candidates is voluntary.  

Currently there is no provision in the MEA that allows municipalities the legislative ability to 

conduct audits to determine if requests for rebates are legitimate. Rebates would be issued 

using the information provided by candidates and donors in accordance with the program 

procedures.  

Comments 
Staff presented three reports to Governance Committee in 2013  (Appendix 1) with respect to 

providing a rebate program for the 2014 Municipal Election. These reports reviewed several 

rebate programs offered by large Ontario municipalities. Subsequently the City of Markham has 

compiled updated statistics for rebate programs offered by municipalities during the 2014 

election year (Appendix 2). Staff have reviewed the statistics between programs offered in 

2010 and 2014 and observed that some municipalities saw an increase in campaign 

contributions while others did not.  

All municipalities surveyed have a minimum donation threshold to qualify for a rebate. Too high 

of an eligibility threshold may discourage some prospective donors that have less financial 

resources to donate. A lower threshold or a flat rebate amount for lesser contributions may 

increase accessibility for donors but may also increase rebate payment costs and 

administration. 

In 2013 Council provided direction to staff to develop a rebate program. Staff presented two 

options having a minimum $50 and $100 donation thresholds respectively to be eligible for a 

rebate. Donors were also required to be Mississauga residents to be eligible. Donations to 

schoolboard trustee campaigns were not eligible for rebates. Council instructed staff to proceed 

with the design of a program based on a $100 donation threshold pursuant to Council 

Resolution 0032-2013. A draft By-law outlining a rebate program was presented by staff to 

Governance Committee who chose not to implement the program for the 2014 Election 

(Governance Committee Resolution 0027-2013). 

Financial Impact 
The City’s municipal elections are financed by annual contributions to the Election Reserve 

collected from municipal taxes. Additional tax funding would be required as the 2018 Election 

budget does not account for a rebate program. The total cost for rebates is determined by three 

main factors: the total number of candidates registered, the total number of candidates that 

register for the program and the total number of contributions. It is difficult to accurately forecast 

the cost. In addition to the rebate payments there will be administration costs associated with 

the program such as staff costs, cheques processing costs and postage.  
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Staff have performed an analysis using the campaign contributions from the 2014 Election in an 

effort to provide an estimated cost of the program. The formula is based on the $100 minimum 

donation threshold. 

Candidates: 98 

Rebate Payout Formula: 50% of contributions between $100 - $750 

Campaign Contributions Over $100: $1,374,580.11 

Estimated Total Rebates Paid at 50%: $688,000 

The Election Office would require one additional temporary employee for 18 months to 

administer the program and process rebates.  

Expense Cost 

Rebates $688,000 

Staffing – Elections $102,000 

Supplies & Postage $5,000 

Total $795,000 

**Staffing: Grade C position for 18 months** 

The cost of the proposed rebate program has not been included in the annual transfer to the 

Election Reserve and an increase to the transfer will be required if the program is implemented.  

Conclusion 
Election Campaign Rebate Programs have been implemented in various municipalities in 

Ontario. A rebate program introduces additional tax funded costs on the municipality and 

increases the complexity of the Election administration. It is suggested that eligibility for a rebate 

be restricted to Mississauga residents only in efforts to control costs and to encourage interest 

in municipal politics amongst Mississauga residents. A by-law is required to establish a rebate 

program for the 2018 Election. 

Alternatively, Council may engage the Federal and Provincial governments to suggest that 

contributions made to municipal political campaigns should be regarded and processed in the 

same manner as contributions made to Federal and Provincial campaigns where contributions 

are included in the donors’ Income Tax filing. This would eliminate the financial burden on 

municipalities to fund rebate payments. 
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Attachments 
Appendix 1: Previous Corporate Reports 

Appendix 2: Election Contribution Rebate Program 

Gary Kent, Commissioner of Corporate Services and Chief Financial Officer 

Prepared by:   Pina Mancuso – Manager, Elections  
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Information Provided By the City of Markham City of Mississauga – Appendix 2 

Municipal Election Candidate Contribution Rebate Programs in Ontario 
The following table outlines the scope and financial impact of Municipal Election Candidate Contribution Rebate 
Programs across Ontario for the 2014 Municipal Election.

* These numbers are as of April 2016.
Ottawa Formula:

 Contribution between $25.01 and $100, rebate is 50% of the contribution
 Contribution between $100.01 and $200, rebate is $50 plus 25% of the amount by which the contribution exceeds $100

Markham Formula: 
 Contribution between $50 and $300, rebate is contribution x 75%
 Contribution between $301 and $550, rebate is $225 + 50% of contribution between $300 and $550

Toronto Formula: 
 Total contributions between $25 and $300, rebate is contribution x 75%
 Total contributions over $300 but not more than $1,000, rebate is contribution - $300 x 50% + $225
 Total contributions more than $1,000, rebate is contribution - $1,000 x 33 1/3% + $575

Ajax Oakville Ottawa Markham Toronto Vaughan Whitby 

Electoral population in 
2014 

74,891 125,722 632,385 195,805 1,813,915 190,724 87,406 

Criteria for contributor to 
qualify for contribution 
rebate 

Ajax voter 
Oakville 
voter & 
resident 

Ontario 
resident 

Ontario 
resident 

Ontario 
resident 

Vaughan 
voter & 
resident 

Whitby voter 

Corporation or trade union 
eligible 

No No No No No No No 

Contributor must apply for 
contribution rebate 
directly to the municipality 

Yes Yes Yes No Yes Yes No 

Cut off date to apply for 
contribution rebate 

12 noon 
Dec. 1 the 

year 
following an 

election 

90 days 
after 

financial 
filing 

deadline 

4:30 pm on 
the 90th day 
after the last 

financial 
filing 

deadline 

Not 
applicable 

December 
31 the year 
following an 

election 

December 
31 the year 
following an 

election 

Not 
applicable 

Timeframe for a 
contribution to be made & 
qualify for a contribution 
rebate 

Between 
candidate’s 
nomination 
filing and  

Voting Day 

Between 
candidate’s 
nomination 
filing and 

final 
financial 

filing 

Between 
candidate’s 
nomination 
filing and 

supplement-
ary period, if 
applicable 

No 
restriction 

Between 
candidate’s 
nomination 
filing and 

supplement-
ary period, if 
applicable 

Between 
candidate’s 
nomination 
filing and 

supplement-
ary period, if 
applicable 

Between 
candidate’s 
nomination 
filing and  

Voting Day 

Program excludes 
candidate, spouse or 
children of candidate 

Yes Yes Yes No No Yes Yes 

Audited statement 
required 

No No Yes Yes Yes Yes No 

Formula used to calculate 
contribution rebate 

75% 50% See below See below See below 75% 25% 

Minimum contribution 
eligible for a contribution 
rebate 

$50 $100 $25.01 $50 $25 $50 $25 

Maximum allowable 
contribution rebate 

$200 $375 $75 $350 $1000 $150 $150 

Number of contribution 
rebates issued*  

89 263 2,166 2,781 16,543 341 43 

Total contribution rebates 
issued*  

$12,266 $40,402.65 $105,185 $546,363 $4,005,376 $48,615 $3,750 

CCRP cost per elector* 
(Total contribution rebates issued 
/ Electoral population)

$0.16 $0.32 $0.17 $2.79 $2.20 $0.26 $0.04 

Number of candidates 
eligible to use Program 

21 46 148 51 423 31 35 

Number of candidates that 
used Program 

10 (48%) 22 (48%) 117 (79%) 44 (86%) 181 (43%) 28 (90%) 12 (34%) 

Number of candidates 
elected who used Program 

4 of 7 11 of 13 24 of 24 12 of 13 45 of 45 9 of 9 5 of 8 


